RECEIVED

Feb 04 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

Appellate Case No. 2024-002176

John R. Nicks, Respondent,

v.

Emily Prioleau, Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Emily Prioleau
5528 Flanders Avenue
North Charleston, SC 29406
(843) 693-0184
eprioleau1976@gmail.com
Pro Se Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in finding no enforceable agreement between the parties despite clear evidence of mutual assent and reliance?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in failing to find a resulting trust in favor of Appellant based on substantial and unrefuted contributions?
- III. Whether the trial court erred in rejecting Appellant's claims of equitable and promissory estoppel despite clear reliance and detriment?
- IV. Whether the trial court's ruling results in unjust enrichment and violates principles of equity and good conscience?
- V. Whether the trial court erred by failing to consider Appellant's equitable claims raised in Magistrate Court and preserved in the Record?
- VI. Whether the trial court erred in rejecting Appellant's claim as barred by the Statute of Frauds despite clear evidence of part performance?
- VII. Whether the trial court proceeded without affording Appellant a fair opportunity to present her case due to trial counsel's failures?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises from a bench trial held on October 28, 2024, before the Honorable Jessica Salvini in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas (Case No. 2023–CP–10–00305).

Respondent filed suit seeking possession of 5528 Flanders Avenue. Appellant defended on the basis of equitable ownership, asserting an oral agreement, substantial financial contributions, and long-term exclusive possession. Final judgment was entered for Respondent on November 26, 2024, and Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on December 20, 2024.

The parties' relationship was governed by a 2008 oral agreement in which Respondent would purchase and rehabilitate the Flanders Avenue property using funds loaned by Appellant, then transfer title to Appellant upon completion (R. pp. 233–234) Between 2002 and early 2009, Appellant provided significant financial support, including:

- \$50,000 and \$30,000 in cash loans in 2002, as testified to at trial (R. p. 206 [\$50,000 and \$30,000 loans])
- A \$29,000 loan in 2006 (R. p. 210)
- A \$22,600 official check dated January 7, 2009, made out to Nick's Auto Sales and marked "Bus Loan" (R. pp. 206, 303 [D-3])
- A \$20,000 check in June 2010 to defense attorney Andrew Savage on Respondent's behalf (R. pp. 225, 305 [D-4])

These contributions were in addition to Appellant's full financing of the gutting and reconstruction of the Flanders Avenue property, which was redesigned to accommodate her disabled grandson. As Appellant testified in her October 3, 2024, deposition, the home was substantially renovated at her sole expense, including disability accommodations for her grandson. (R. pp. 192–193). These improvements reflect both reliance and valuable

consideration sufficient to warrant equitable relief (R. pp. 212–213). While Respondent oversaw construction, Appellant managed Nick’s Auto Sales and continued to provide financial support. (R. pp. 227–232).

In January 2010, Appellant reimbursed herself \$80,000 from Nick’s Auto Sales—an amount acknowledged at trial by Respondent (R. pp. 223–224). This reimbursement occurred more than six years before Respondent’s incarceration in 2016 and approximately six months before Appellant moved into the Flanders Avenue property in June 2010 (R. p. 184). It was made during the normal course of business and treated as a partial repayment of prior loans, including the \$50,000 and \$30,000 contributions made in 2002 (R. p. 206 [\$50,000 and \$30,000 loans]). Respondent did not raise any objection at the time. The allegation that the reimbursement was improper was first raised after litigation commenced in 2022. Appellant continued to provide financial support and manage the business until its closure in February 2016. A few months after the reimbursement, Appellant issued a \$20,000 check to defense attorney Andrew Savage from her South Carolina Federal Credit Union account (R. pp. 225, 305 [D-4]). Appellant also issued a \$10,000 check to Nick’s Auto Sales on July 27, 2013 (R. pp. 222, 304 [D-3]). From 2008 through 2021, Appellant paid the property taxes on 5528 Flanders Avenue using personal funds (R. pp. 241–42, 329–333 [D-8])). Trial testimony reflected that Respondent began making tax payments only after litigation commenced in 2022, in an effort to obscure Appellant’s longstanding role as steward of the property (R. pp. 247–248). Appellant moved into the property in June 2010 and has maintained exclusive possession ever since, without lease, rent, or contribution from Respondent (R. pp. 249–251). Appellant has been solely responsible for all utilities, maintenance, and property obligations (R. pp. 239–242)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Questions of law and mixed questions of law and fact—such as whether an oral agreement satisfies the Statute of Frauds—are reviewed de novo, with no deference to the trial court’s conclusions.
2. Findings of fact are reviewed for clear error and will not be disturbed unless, on the entire evidence, this Court is left with the firm conviction a mistake has been made.
3. Equitable issues—resulting trusts, estoppel, unjust enrichment—are reviewed under this Court’s own view of the preponderance of the evidence, allowing independent assessment of the fairness and justice of the result.
4. Discretionary rulings, including evidentiary and procedural orders, are reviewed for abuse of discretion—i.e., whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by evidence and free of legal error.
5. Denials of a jury trial, including whether a demand was waived, are reviewed de novo. *Moore v. McKelvey*, 221 S.C. 780, 72 S.E.2d 232 (1952).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This appeal challenges the trial court's refusal to recognize an oral agreement that was extensively performed, reasonably relied upon, and never contradicted until litigation began. Appellant contributed over \$130,000 in direct funds, rebuilt the Flanders Avenue residence, paid property taxes for more than a decade, and maintained exclusive possession of the home—living there for 12 years before litigation was ever filed, and now for over 15 years in total. Despite this enduring pattern of reliance and contribution, the trial court found no enforceable agreement, no trust, and no equitable basis to prevent Respondent from retaining both the full benefit of Appellant's investment and sole legal title. That conclusion conflicts with South Carolina law, which recognizes oral agreements through doctrines of part performance, equitable and promissory estoppel, resulting or constructive trust, and unjust enrichment. Appellant's equitable claims were first asserted in Magistrate Court—where she also requested a jury trial—and were preserved in the Record on Appeal. Her defenses were not manufactured on appeal, but consistently raised and documented across both courts. At trial, Appellant's ability to be fully heard was compromised by trial counsel's serious failures: contacting witnesses—including key corroborating witness DeWitt Lamar—only the day before trial; declining to move a handwritten document by Respondent into evidence; preventing real-time communication during a virtual hearing; and advising Appellant not to fully testify, while Respondent was permitted to speak at length and even ask to testify again. Together, these legal and procedural failures denied Appellant a meaningful opportunity to present her case and led to a decision that contradicts equity, precedent, and common sense. This Court should reverse or remand to remedy those errors and enforce the fairness the law requires.

ARGUMENTS

I. The Trial Court Erred in Finding No Enforceable Agreement Between the Parties Despite Clear Evidence of Mutual Assent and Reliance

Whether a binding agreement exists is a question of law, reviewed de novo on appeal. *Sauner v. Pub. Serv. Auth. of S.C.*, 354 S.C. 397, 581 S.E.2d 161 (2003). When the facts are undisputed, the court determines as a matter of law whether an enforceable contract was formed. An enforceable agreement may arise absent a written document if there is mutual assent—an offer, an acceptance, and valuable consideration. *Jackson v. Speed*, 326 S.C. 289, 486 S.E.2d 750 (1997). Courts may enforce oral contracts where the terms are definite and both parties act on them. Here, the record demonstrates a consistent course of dealing between Appellant and Respondent anchored in mutual understanding: Appellant would finance the complete reconstruction of 5528 Flanders Avenue, and Respondent would ultimately transfer title. This agreement was never reduced to writing—but both parties acted upon it. Appellant paid substantial amounts toward Respondent’s business and property, beginning as early as 2002 and continuing through 2013, with no expectation of repayment, interest, or tenancy (R. pp. 206–208, 210, 221–222). Respondent allowed Appellant to take exclusive possession of the home in June 2010, immediately after its completion. She remained in continuous, undisputed occupancy for over 14 years, paid property taxes, made improvements, and was never asked to pay rent. (R. pp. 239–241, 246–247, 251–252). . These facts are incompatible with a casual licensee arrangement or gratuitous gift. Moreover, Respondent’s conduct confirms the existence of an agreement:

- Appellant reimbursed herself \$80,000 in 2010—an amount acknowledged at trial by Respondent, acknowledging the prior contributions (R. pp. 182, 192–195, 197–198).

- He did not assert any ownership claims, rental terms, or limitations until September 2022, when he issued a Notice to Quit (R. p. 292 [P-2]).
- He testified to receiving Appellant’s money on “a few occasions” and did not offer evidence that her contributions were gifts or loans (R. pp. 182, 192–195). The trial court rejected Appellant’s claim by concluding that “*no enforceable agreement existed between the parties for the conveyance of real estate.*” (Order and Judgement, R. p. 22). But that finding ignored both parties’ course of conduct, the specificity of Appellant’s actions, and the absence of any contradictory agreement. The fact that title remained solely in Respondent’s name does not preclude enforcement where the agreement was partially performed.

This appeal does not rest on mere expectation—it rests on executed reliance, sustained over years. Respondent received the full benefit of Appellant’s financial, personal, and managerial investment without formal repayment or disavowal until litigation began. An enforceable oral agreement existed between the parties, as evidenced by their mutual conduct and performance. The trial court erred in finding otherwise. Reversal is warranted to reflect the agreement the parties carried out in fact and equity.

II. The Trial Court Erred in Failing to Find a Resulting Trust in Favor of Appellant Based on Substantial and Unrefuted Contributions

The existence of a resulting trust is a matter in equity and reviewed de novo on appeal. While appellate courts defer to the trial court’s factual findings when based on credibility, they are free to determine facts based on the entire record. A resulting trust arises when one party provides consideration for property that is titled in another’s name. *Bradshaw v. Ewing*, 297 S.C. 242, 376 S.E.2d 264 (1989). South Carolina courts recognize resulting trusts as tools to prevent unjust enrichment and honor the intent of parties who furnish value with the

understanding of ownership, even in the absence of a written agreement. Here, the record reflects uncontroverted evidence that Appellant, provided substantial funds, services, and reliance in exchange for equitable ownership of 5528 Flanders Avenue, while title remained in Respondent's name. Her contributions include:

- A \$50,000 loan in 2002 while Respondent was constructing a separate residence at 5438 Halfway Creek Road, Huger, South Carolina (R. p. 206).
- A subsequent \$30,000 loan in 2002 (R. p. 206).
- A \$29,000 loan in 2006. (R. p. 210)
- A \$22,600 official check dated January 7, 2009, marked "Bus Loan," prior to possession of the Flanders property (R. pp. 221, 303 [D-3]).
- Management of Nick's Auto Sales while Respondent oversaw demolition and full reconstruction of the Flanders home. (R.p. 209)
- An \$80,000 reimbursement in January 2010, which covered only part of her total financial outlay (R. p. 206).
- A \$20,000 check in June 2010 to defense attorney Andrew Savage on Respondent's behalf. (R. pp. 205, 225-226).
- A \$10,000 check to Nick's Auto Sales dated July 27, 2013 (R. pp. 236, 304 [D-3])
- Property tax payments from 2008 to 2021 from Appellant's personal accounts (R. pp. 329-333 [D-8]).
- Exclusive possession for over 14 years without lease, rent, or reimbursement (R. pp. 116, 240-241).

These facts meet the standard set in *Bradshaw v. Ewing*, 297 S.C. 242, 376 S.E.2d 264 (1989) and similar cases. Appellant's performance was not symbolic or incidental—it was

transformative. The home had to be fully gutted and rebuilt to accommodate her disabled grandson, and she occupied it continuously from June 2010 onward. Respondent himself testified that the “whole purpose of the house” was to provide a home for me and my disabled grandson. (R. p. 192–195). This admission underscores the intent behind my financial contributions and supports imposition of a resulting trust to prevent unjust enrichment. The trial court’s Final Order nonetheless concluded: “The Court finds no resulting trust has been established by clear and convincing evidence” (Order and Judgement R. pp. 23–25). That finding contradicts the unrefuted record. Respondent offered no receipts, leases, or countervailing evidence to contradict Appellant’s documentation of performance and reliance. Further, Respondent did not assert a landlord-tenant relationship until September 2022, when he served a Notice to Quit—after 12 years of silence and benefit. (R.pp. 292–293, Exhibit). Where the record shows that Appellant paid consideration, improved the property, and relied upon an oral understanding, South Carolina courts are clear:

equity will not allow one party to retain title unjustly. *Stackhouse v. Todd*, 299 S.C. 552, 386 S.E.2d 258 (Ct. App. 1989); *Miller v. Miller*, 301 S.C. 307, 391 S.E.2d 456 (Ct. App. 1990).

The evidence established a resulting trust by clear and convincing proof. The trial court erred in failing to impose it. Appellant respectfully requests reversal and recognition of her equitable interest.

III. The Trial Court Erred in Rejecting Appellant’s Claims of Equitable and Promissory Estoppel Despite Clear Reliance and Detriment

Whether equitable or promissory estoppel applies is a question of law, reviewed de novo.

Springob v. Univ. of S.C., 407 S.C. 490, 757 S.E.2d 384 (2014). Estoppel may bar a party from asserting the Statute of Frauds or denying an agreement where the other party has relied to their

detriment. South Carolina recognizes both equitable estoppel and promissory estoppel as doctrines to prevent injustice where one party reasonably relies on another's conduct or promises.

Equitable estoppel applies when a party, by words or conduct, induces another to change position to their detriment

Promissory estoppel applies when a promise, reasonably expected to induce reliance, does so—and injustice can only be avoided by enforcement. *Thomerson v. DeVito*, 432 S.C. 190, 851 S.E.2d 46 (2020).

In *Springob*, the South Carolina Supreme Court reversed summary judgment where the University made repeated oral promises about premium seating rights, and the plaintiffs relied on those promises by making substantial payments. The Court held that even absent a written contract, a genuine issue of material fact existed as to estoppel, and equity could bar the University from denying the agreement.

Here, Respondent repeatedly promised Appellant that the Flanders Avenue property would be hers. Appellant relied on those promises by:

- Paying over \$150,000 in direct contributions (R. p. 209).
- Managing Respondent's business during incarceration (R. p. 180)
- Paying property taxes for over a decade (R. pp. 242, 329–333 [D–8]).
- Rebuilding the home and relocating her family there in 2010 (R. pp. 214–215, 239–242, 271–276).

This reliance was not speculative, it was substantial, foreseeable, and **irreversible**. Respondent testified that he accepted my funds specifically because I needed disability-accessible features for my grandson, including 36-inch bedroom doors and accessible bathrooms (R. pp. 192–194).

His recognition that these improvements were made for my family's use reinforces that my contributions were not gratuitous but were made in reliance on his promise. Respondent accepted the benefits of Appellant's performance for over 14 years without objection, reimbursement, or assertion of tenancy. Only in 2022 did he attempt to evict her, after the value of her investment had fully matured. The trial court mischaracterized Respondent's promises as vague and unenforceable. But under *Springob*, the question is not whether the promise was written—it is whether Appellant reasonably relied and suffered harm. The record answers that unequivocally. Appellant's reliance on Respondent's repeated promises was substantial and detrimental. The trial court erred in failing to apply estoppel to prevent injustice. Reversal is warranted to enforce the agreement Respondent induced and Appellant fulfilled.

Appellant's continued financial support of Respondent and his business—including payments for business expenses, operational costs, and personal loans—was made in reliance on the parties' longstanding agreement that Respondent would transfer the Flanders Avenue property to Appellant. (R. pp. 233–234). This understanding governed their course of dealing for over a decade. Appellant's contributions were not acts of charity or informal support; they were part of a sustained pattern of reliance on Respondent's repeated assurances. The trial court's failure to recognize this reliance as a basis for estoppel was legal error and permitted Respondent to retain the benefit of Appellant's performance while denying the promised result.

IV. The Trial Court's Ruling Results in Unjust Enrichment and Violates Principles of Equity and Good Conscience

Claims sounding in equity are reviewed de novo. *Doe v. S.C. Med. Malpractice Liab. Joint Underwriting Ass'n*, 347 S.C. 642, 557 S.E.2d 670 (2001). The appellate court may determine facts based on the record where no credibility determinations are at issue. Equity abhors unjust

enrichment. When one party receives the benefits of another's labor, funds, or reliance and fails to compensate in accordance with their understanding, South Carolina courts will intervene to prevent injustice. *Easley v. Richland Memorial Hosp.*, 324 S.C. 19, 23, 481 S.E.2d 487, 489 (1997). Here, Respondent received:

- Over a decade of property tax payments by Appellant (R. pp. 242, 329–333 [D-8])
- Multiple loans totaling over \$150,000 without promissory notes or repayment terms (R. p. 209).
- Business management services before and during incarceration (R. pp. 192)
- A fully rebuilt residence funded and overseen by Appellant, customized to meet her family's needs (R. pp. 212–215)

Respondent admitted three times that Appellant paid for the improvements (R. pp. 182, 192–194). His testimony confirms that I conferred value on the property that he retains title to—without consideration or conveyance—entitling Appellant to relief under unjust enrichment principles. Respondent has retained both the benefit of the property and nearly all of Appellant's financial contributions, while denying her the one thing the parties agreed upon: title and ownership (R. pp. 209, 214–226, 233–234, 249–250; Dep. Tr. pp. 133, 135, 137–138, 141, 143, 150). To affirm the trial court's ruling would be to allow Respondent to keep the house and the money. That result contravenes South Carolina's longstanding commitment to fairness in equity. *Haselden v. Atkins*, 332 S.C. 182, 503 S.E.2d 105 (Ct. App. 1998). Moreover, Respondent's conduct was not consistent with that of a landlord. For 14 years he accepted possession without lease, rent, or eviction—until serving a Notice to Quit in 2022. (R. pp. 246–247; R. p. 292 [P-2]). Respondent delay and silence, coupled with acceptance of benefits, only deepens the inequity. Appellant acted in reliance, not charity. Appellant left her own home, moved in, cared for the

property, paid taxes, and sustained this living arrangement based on Respondent's assurances (R. pp. 209, 215–226, 233–234, 242, 249–250). For a court of equity to now ignore those facts would result in a windfall that equity cannot condone. The trial court's ruling permits Respondent to retain both Appellant's contributions and full ownership of the property. This outcome is inequitable and constitutes unjust enrichment. The judgment should be reversed to restore fairness and prevent further harm.

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