RECEIVED

Aug 26 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
CHARLESTON COUNTY

Jessica A. Salvini, Presiding Judge

Trial Case No.: 2023-CP-10-00305

Appellate Case No.: 2024-002176

JOHN NICK,)
)
Respondent,)
)
vs.)
)
EMILY PRIOLEAU,)
)
Appellant.)

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

William B. Jung, Esq.
1156 Bowman Road, Ste. 200
Mount Pleasant, S.C. 29464
(843) 576-4200
bradjung@msn.com

Attorney for Respondent John Nick

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

Additionally, Nick disputes that Appellant's citation to an alleged standard of review of an appeal from a denial of a Demand for Jury Trial on the initial basis that no right to a jury trial attaches to claims or defenses which are equitable, as opposed to, legal in nature. *Defender Properties, Inc. v. Doby*, 307 S.C. 336, 415 S.E.2d 383 (1992) (Citations omitted). Secondly, Prioleau did not assert or claim prior to or during the trial that she

had a right to a jury trial on the issues under consideration by the trial court. Accordingly, Nick respectfully submits that the standard of review for an appeal involving denial of a Demand for Jury Trial is not applicable to this appeal or was otherwise waived at trial by Prioleau and thus is not preserved on appeal.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE, PRIOLEAU CANNOT MAINTAIN A CLAIM OF OWNERSHIP OR FOR TRANSFER OF THE PROPERTY BY APPLICATION OF THE THEORIES OF PROMISSORY OR EQUITABLE ESTOPPEL, RESULTING TRUST OR PART PERFORMANCE OF AN ORAL AGREEMENT.**
- A. The Doctrine of Equitable and Promissory Estoppel (as Means of Barring Application of Statute of Frauds) Are Not Applicable as Matter of Law to this Case, Nor Would Facts of This Case Apply to these Doctrines.**

In *Springbob v. The University of South Carolina*, 407 S.C. 490 (2014), the Supreme Court upheld previous case law holding that the doctrine of equitable estoppel can bar the application of the statute of frauds as a defense to an oral contract that was not otherwise capable of being performed within one year. *Id*, citing, *Collings Music Co. v. Cook*, 281 S.C. 580, 583 (Ct. App. 1984); *Florence Printing Co. v. Parnell*, 178 S.C. 119, 127 (1935).

To take a contract that otherwise could not be performed within one year outside the purview of the S.C. Statute of Frauds, the Court noted that the “party asserting estoppel ‘must show that he has suffered a definite, substantial, detrimental change of position in reliance on the contract, and that no remedy except enforcement of the bargain is adequate to restore his former position [and] “it is not sufficient to show merely that he has lost an expected benefit under the contract. *Id*, citing *Collins Music Co.*, *supra*. In

addition, “Before the estoppel can be invoked, however, there must be **competent proof of the existence of the oral contract.**” *Id* (Emphasis supplied).

Since its March 12, 2014 date of decision, upon information and belief, *Springbob* has been cited in four subsequent reported cases: *Pertuis v. Front Roe Rests., Inc.*, 423 S.C. 640 (2108); *Wilson v. Willis*, 416 S.C. 395 (S.C. App. 2016); *Rodarte v. Univ. of South Carolina*, 419 S.C. 592 (2017); and *Coves Draden, LLC v. Ibanez*, App. Case 2014-000339 (Unpub. Dec. Aug. 17, 2016). All of these subsequent cases involved contracts that otherwise could not be performed within one year – none involved real estate. Moreover, Respondent has not identified any decision that has applied the collateral estoppel doctrine cited in *Springbob* or its progeny to cases involving lands, tenements and hereditaments, as is the case at bar involving Prioleau’s alleged claim to have an equitable interest or an indefinite tenancy in the Nick Property. Accordingly, the collateral estoppel doctrine enunciated in *Springbob* is distinguishable and thereby inapplicable to the case at bar as a matter of law.

Secondly, as a matter of fact, there is no dispute that the Prioleau has failed to and cannot establish “competent proof of the existence of an oral contract” (*Springbob*, citing *Atl. Wholesale Co. v. Solondz*, 283 S.C. 36, 40 (Ct. App. 1984)), which is absolutely necessary to invoke the doctrine of collateral estoppel to bar the otherwise application of the South Carolina Statute of Frauds. Both parties have testified that no terms, i.e., price or date for transfer, was discussed much less agreed for transfer of the Property from Nick to Prioleau.

All that Prioleau offered a trial was uncollaborated and self-serving testimony referencing a vague and ambiguous future expectation that Nick would transfer title to the Property at an unknown, unagreed and unspecified future date under unknown, unagreed and unspecified terms, such as a payment price. None of the necessary terms of an actual contract that meets the requirements under South Carolina law to establish an enforceable contract were offered into evidence at trial by Prioleau by reference to her expectations or beliefs. Therefore, Prioleau cannot establish the existence of a valid oral contract of her alleged right to have a transfer of title to the Property from Nick at some future date and under unknown terms.

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the Defendant was claiming a perpetual tenancy by oral agreement, S.C. Code Ann. § 27-35-20 expressly prohibits the creation of tenancies in excess of one year by oral agreement: “Any agreement for the use or occupation of real estate for more than one year **shall be void unless in writing.**” *Id* (Emphasis added). It is clear that Prioleau’s occupancy of the Property has been ongoing for over a decade. Indeed, for such reason, Magistrate Mikell found that Prioleau to be a tenant at will as defined by S.C. Code Ann. § 27-33-10(3) (1976) . Mikell Order dated November 15, 2022. Prioleau has occupied the Property under a month-to-month tenancy, for which proper advance written notice was given on September 9, 2022 that Nick was terminating said month-to-month tenancy. For such reasons, Nick respectfully submits that the trial court’s Order that Prioleau cannot overcome the requirements of the South Carolina Statute of Frauds under a theory of equitable or promissory estoppel should be affirmed.

B. A Resulting Trust in Prioleau's Favor Cannot be Established as a Matter of Law under the Facts of this Case.

At trial, Prioleau argued that she had an equitable interest in the Property by operation of the equitable remedy of a resulting trust. Prioleau Pre-Trial Memo at page 41 Defendant's Memo in Opposition to Summary Judgment, page 5. However, the undisputed facts of this case, the requirements to impose a resulting trust cannot be met by Prioleau under the facts of this case.

In 1977, the South Carolina Supreme Court ruled that "In order to establish a resulting trust, it was necessary that respondent show by definite, clear unequivocal and convincing evidence that she paid a definite portion of the purchase money at the time of the transaction." *Glover v. Glover*, 234 S.C.433 (1977). In 2002, the Court of Appeals noted that "The general rule is that when real estate is conveyed to one person and the consideration is paid by another, it is presumed that the party who pays the purchase money intended a benefit to himself and a resulting trust is raised in his behalf." *Jocoy v. Jocoy*, 349 S.C. 441 (2002), quoting, *Lollis v. Lollis*, 291 S.C. 525, 528 (1987).

Therefore, it is well established that the party seeking to create a resulting trust **must transfer funds to the party taking title to real estate at or before the time of closing:** "[I]n order for a resulting trust to arise, such must arise, if at all, at the time of the purchase is made. The funds must then, or prior thereto, be advanced and invested. A trust will not result from funds subsequently furnished." *Moore v. McKelvey*, 221 S.C. 780 (1976), citing *Green v. Green*, 237 S.C. 424; *Hodges v. Hodges*, 243 S.C. 299. As set

forth above, Prioleau did not contribute any funds to the cash purchase that Nick made of the Property in 2008.

In *Hutto v. Hutto*, 196 S.C. 369 (1938), the Supreme Court gave extensive consideration to the requirement that the party seeking to establish a resulting trust must demonstrate that he or she must prove by **clear, convincing, definitive and unequivocal evidence the contribution to a property's purchase price at or before the time of closing:**

"It is well settled in this state that, in order to establish a resulting trust in lands conveyed to the grantee, it is necessary and indispensable that an actual payment of the purchase money, or some definite portion of it, should be clearly proved to have been made by the cestui que trust, at the time of the purchase. (Citations omitted

Mr. Pomeroy says (3 Pom.Eq.Jur., § 1037) that, in order for a resulting trust to arise, 'it is absolutely indispensable that the payment should be actually made by the beneficiary, or that an absolute obligation to pay should be incurred by him as a part of the original transaction to purchase, at or before the time of the conveyance; no subsequent and entirely independent conduct, intervention, or payment on his part would raise any resulting trust.'

The rationale upon which this principle is based is thus clearly stated by Chief Justice McIver in *Ex parte Trenholm*, supra:

"In the leading case of *Botsford v. Burr*, 2 Johns.Ch. [(N.Y.) 405] at page 408, Chancellor Kent says: 'If A. purchases an estate with his own money, and takes the deed in the name of B., a trust results to A. because he paid the money. The whole foundation of the trust is the payment of the money. *Willis v. Willis*, 2 Atk. 71. If, therefore, the party who sets up a resulting trust made no payment, he cannot be

permitted to show by parol proof that the purchase was made for his benefit or on his account.' Again he says: 'Nor would a subsequent advance of money to the purchaser, after the purchase is thus complete and ended, alter the case. It might be the evidence of a new loan, or be the ground of some new agreement, but it would not attach by relation a trust to the original purchase; for the trust arises out of the circumstance that the money of the real, and not of the nominal, purchaser formed at the time the consideration of that purchase, and became converted into the land.'

Hutto v. Hutto, 187 S.C. 36, 196 S.E.2d 369 (1936)⁵.

In the case at the bar, Prioleau offered no evidence that she contributed any actual funds to Nick's cash closing on the 5528 Flanders Avenue Property⁶. In fact, she conceded that she did not make any actual contribution to the cash funds that Nick paid at closing:

"Q: And you did not contribute any specific funds, and I'm not talking about your previous alleged indebtedness that he may owe to you, but did you give him any funds immediately prior to or closing to purchase this property for approximately \$41,000.00?

A: No, he already had it."

Tr. at 98.

⁵ The *Hutto* decision continues to recount the development of the law in equity governing a resulting trust under English and early American common law.

⁶ As set forth above, Nick's testimony that Prioleau did not contribute any actual funds prior to or at the closing for his purchase of the Property (Tr. at 13) was unrebutted.

However, herein, the alleged prior indebtedness owed by Nick to Prioleau actually refers to allegations that she contributed funds to Nick's construction costs in 2002 and 2003 when Nick was building a home on a different property on Halfway Creek Road in Huger, S.C. Prioleau Answer, Exh. "A". Moreover, the other alleged indebtedness that Prioleau testified and offered supporting documentation all referred to her loans to Nick's business, Nicks Auto Sales – not Nick personally and certainly not for Nick to buy the 5528 Flanders Avenue Property. Any funds that Prioleau paid for improvements at the property were made contemporaneously or after she moved into the Property in June of 2010.

These distinctions are critically important and ultimately fatal to Prioleau's' attempt to acquire an equitable interest in the Property under a resulting trust theory. For these reasons, Nick respectfully submits that the trial court's well-reasoned determination that Prioleau cannot invoke a resulting trust to create an equitable interest in the Property to avoid ejectment is proper and should be affirmed.

C. Prioleau Cannot Enforce an Agreement to Transfer the Property under a Theory of Part Performance of an Oral Contract.

As discussed by Judge Salvini, "A party seeking to enforce an oral contract can show part performance of the oral contract. *See, Beckham vs. Short*, 294 S.C. 415 (Ct. App. 1988). 'Performance may be proved by evidence of (1) improvements to the real estate; (2) possession of the real estate; and (3) payment of the purchase price.' *Bradshaw v. Ewing*, 297 S.C. 242, 245 (1989), *citing Stackhouse v. Cook*, 271 S.C. 518 (1973)." Salvini Decision at Page 5-6. ... However, in applying a part performance claim, 'In order

to overcome the Statute of Frauds, [a party] must establish the parol contract by competent and satisfactory proof, which is clear, definitive and certain.”. Salvini Decision at 5-6 of 8,.

As Judge Salvini noted that Prioleau did take possession of the property in 2010 two years after Nick’s 2008 purchase and made “some improvements” to it, “the record before this court does not support a finding that the parties had an oral contract for Nick to transfer the Property to Prioleau because 1) the record is void of the terms and provisions the parties agreed to for the transfer of the Property from Nick to Prioleau; 2) there was no definitive agreement between the parties on a purchase price for the Property; 3) the parties had not agreed on a date Nick would transfer the property to Prioleau; and 4) the funds Prioleau loaned to Nick were for other reasons (i.e., business loans or business expenses, Nick’s attorney’s fees, etc.) and not specifically for the purchase price or improvements made to the Property and spanned the course of several years. The parties did not have a meeting of the minds regarding this Property and its transfer from Nick to Prioleau.” Salvini Decision, Page 6 of 8.

The above four (4) findings of fact cited by the trial court are more than amply supported by the record before this Court and the trial court. Indeed, these findings are all based on undisputed and admitted facts. In the interest of brevity and economy, Nick references his prior arguments and evidentiary citations set forth in Argument A *infra*, regarding equitable and promissory estoppel as further support herein. For such reasons, Nick respectfully submits that the trial court’s well-reasoned determination should be affirmed.

II. PRIOLEAU'S ARGUMENTS OBJECTING TO THE MANNER OF TRIAL ARE WITHOUT MERIT AND ARE UNSUPPORTED BY THE RECORD ON APPEAL.

Without citation to any actual evidence in the Record on Appeal (or elsewhere), Prioleau offers a host of arguments concerning alleged witnesses who did not appear for trial, alleged insufficient preparation by her trial counsel, Prioleau being in a separate virtual room from that of her trial counsel, her testimony being allegedly limited upon the advice of her counsel, the alleged failure to offer a "handwritten document" detailing certain charges for labor and materials on the property, among other unspecific objections. Appellant Initial Brief at 15-16.

As an initial matter, Prioleau enunciated no objection to the manner and nature of a bench trial being conducted remotely before or at the commencement of the trial at issue. Secondly, any issue concerning the inability to produce a witness should have been raised to the trial judge before trial – none was made. Further, on this point, Prioleau had well over a year to memorialize the testimony of witnesses she believed to be critical to her case by deposing said witnesses in advance to have the transcripts of their testimony available for introduction in the event said witnesses were "unavailable" at trial. Prioleau cannot be heard to complain or cite her lack of preparation over the 19 to 20 months that this case was pending between January of 2023 and October of 2024. More importantly, no proffer of the testimony which these allegedly unavailable witnesses would offer was made to the trial court, and Appellant's citation to such testimony is beyond the Record on Appeal. For such reasons, Prioleau's argument concerning these alleged witnesses is not preserved for review and appeal and must be dismissed.

Secondly, the record does not show that Appellant's counsel was unprepared or that Appellant was prejudiced in any manner by the conduct of her trial. Even, *arguendo*, these allegations are not chargeable to the Respondent. Respondent. If Appellant was not ready to proceed on October 28, 2024, her remedy was to seek a continuance. Post trial, of Appellant believed the trial was somehow improper or unfair, Appellant's remedy was to file a Motion for a New Trial under Rule 59 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure or perhaps a Motion for Reconsideration. Appellant made such motions. Therefore, Appellant's objections to the manner of trial were waived, are not persevered for review on this appeal and should be dismissed as either a matter of fact or law and for being unsupported by any actual evidence in the Record on Appeal.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the decision of the Circuit Court should be affirmed.